IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 69,101

HAROLD LEE HARVEY,
Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

FILED

CLERK OF THE COURT
By *[Signature]*
Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR
INDIAN RIVER COUNTY.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT G. UDELL, P.A.
ROBERT B. UDELL, ESQ.
Attorney for Appellant
3601 S.E. Ocean Blvd.
Suite 205
Stuart, FL. 33494
(305) 283-9450

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Indian River County, Florida. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will designate the appropriate portions of the record:

"R" Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant was arrested on February 27, 1985. An Indictment charging the appellant with two counts of First Degree Murder was filed on March 7, 1985. (R 3100 - 3101) Prior to trial, appellant filed a Motion to Suppress. (R 3341 - 3342) The appellant also filed two Motions in Limine. (R 3173 - 3174; 3485 - 3486) The appellant also filed a Motion to Disclose the Identity of the Confidential Informant. (R 3230 - 3231) The two Motions in Limine and the Motion to Disclose the Identity of the Confidential Informant were denied by the trial court, as well as the Motion to Suppress.

The trial commenced on June 9, 1986. During the process of voir dire, the appellee moved to challenge for cause prospective jurors Roach, Rogers and Meadors. Over the objection of the appellant, all three challenges for cause were granted. Also during voir dire, while in chambers and in the absence of the appellant, the trial judge, prosecutors and counsel for the appellant examined the father of prospective juror Keneven and ruled on and granted the appellee's challenge for cause of prospective juror Keneven. (R 1031) During the examination of the other prospective jurors, counsel for the appellant attempted to ask and examine the prospective jurors on specific hypotheticals in order to determine the attitudes of the prospective jurors on the imposition of the death penalty. (R 810 -811) The appellee objected to these hypothetical questions, and the trial judge sustained the objection.

Twelve jurors were sworn in to hear the cause. (R 1740) Two alternate jurors were selected and sworn in to sit in this cause. (R 1832)

The trial judge gave his preliminary instructions to the jury. (R 1832 - 1839) Counsel for the appellee and for the appellant gave their opening arguments. (R 1848 - 1868)

The appellee presented all of its evidence to the jury and rested.

(R 2447B) The appellant made a Motion for a Judgment of Acquittal which was denied by the trial court. (R 2450 - 2451) The appellant rested. (R 2451) Counsel for the appellant and the appellee gave their closing arguments.

(R 2459 - 2529) The trial judge instructed the jury on the law governing its deliberations. (R 2532 - 2555) The jury commenced its deliberations at 4:30 P.M. on June 18, 1986. (R 2556) The jury returned a verdict wherein it found the defendant to be guilty on two counts of First Degree Murder. (R. 2570)

The trial court instructed the jury on the preliminary penalty phase Standard Jury Instructions. (R 2623 - 2624) Counsel for the appellee and the appellant gave their opening arguments on the penalty phase of the trial.

(R 2626 - 2646) Both the appellant and the appellee presented testimony during the penalty phase of the trial. (R 2650 - 2948) The appellant submitted certain Special Requested Jury Instructions. (R 3587 - 3594) The Special Requested Jury Instructions were denied by the trial judge. (R 2575) Counsel for the appellee and for the appellant gave their closing arguments on the penalty phase of the trial. (R 2981 - 3038) The trial judge instructed the jury on the penalty phase Standard Jury Instructions. (R 3038 - 3043) The jury retired to consider the advisory sentence at 4:10 P.M. on June 20, 1986. (R 3043) At 4:37 P.M. the jury asked two questions of the trial court, (R 3044) and the court instructed the jury to rely on the instructions which were previously provided to them. (R 3044 - 3045) At 5:01 P.M. the jury indicated they had arrived at a verdict. (R 3046) At 5:05 P.M. the jury was returned to the courtroom and returned advisory verdicts recommending to the trial court by a vote of eleven to one that it impose the death penalty upon the appellant (R 3046 - 3047) At 5:12 P.M. the court adjourned in order that the trial judge could consider the evidence presented and the recommendation of the jury in preparation for

imposition of sentence. (R 3050) At 6:58 P.M. the court reconvened and the trial judge adjudged the appellant to be guilty of two counts of First Degree Murder. (R 3051) The trial judge, having found four aggravating circumstances to exist as enumerated in Section 921.141 of the Florida Statutes, and having found only one mitigating circumstance to exist as enumerated in Section 921.1 of the Florida Statutes, and having found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances, imposed the death penalty upon the appellant. (R 3465 - 3470; 3052)

The appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R 3495)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At approximately 6:30 P.M. on February 23, 1985, the appellant met with his codefendant, Scott Steitler, at his house and drove over to the home of the victims intending to rob them. (R 3608) They agreed that they should cut the power on the telephone lines and drove over to the bridge near the home and cut the power lines. They drove up to the victims' home and knocked on the front door. The appellant had a pistol in his possession at that time. Mrs. Boyd walked around from the side of the house. The codefendant grabbed his weapon from the vehicle and the appellant grabbed Mrs. Boyd and took her into the house where Mr. Boyd was located. (R 3609) At that point in time they told the victims that they needed money and Mr. Boyd went into the bedroom and got his wallet. The appellant traded weapons with his codefendant and took possession of the AR rifle. After Mr. Boyd gave the appellant money from his wallet, the appellant and his codefendant discussed what they were going to do with the victims. They decided that they would have to kill them. The victims started to get up as though to try to run and the appellant started to fire, striking both of the victims. The appellant left the home of the victims, but after hearing the hollering and moaning from Mrs. Boyd, re-entered the home finding Mrs. Boyd still alive and shot her in the head. (R 3610 - 3611) The appellant and his codefendant left the victims' home and threw the weapons away along the roadway.

At approximately 6:20 A.M. on February 27, 1986, the appellant was stopped while driving his motor vehicle along the roadway in Okeechobee County and placed under arrest for the murders of the Boyds. (R 2092 - 2094) The appellant was read his rights pursuant to constitutional law at that time. (R 2095)

The appellant was transported to the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Department and again read his Miranda warnings. (R 2097) The appellant was questioned and interrogated by Sgt. Charles E. Flynn, Jr. of the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office which began at approximately 10:30 A.M. on the same date. (R 2120) The appellant was again read his rights under Miranda. The appellant was questioned as to his involvement or any knowledge as to the deaths of Mr. and Mrs. Boyd and he denied the same. (R 2123) The appellant requested to speak to his wife, and arrangements were made during that period of time for him to speak to his wife. (R 2128 - 2130) At approximately 2:22 P.M., the appellant gave a statement to the law enforcement authorities wherein he admitted his involvement in the murder of the Boyds. (R 3603 - 3646)

On May 11, 1986, the appellant escaped from the Okeechobee County Jail. (R 2306) During the early morning of May 11, 1986, the appellant was located sleeping in a truck by Hugh McDonald, a police officer with the North Miami Beach Police Department. (R 2326) The officer woke up the appellant and the appellant pointed a gun in the officer's face. (R 2330) After the officer fired his weapon at the appellant, the appellant jumped in the officer's vehicle and fled the scene. (R 2331) After a car chase through the city, the appellant was subdued. (R 2340) The appellant was transported back to the Okeechobee County Detention Center where he stayed pending trial in this cause.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXAMINING PROSPECTIVE JUROR KENEVEN'S FATHER AND IN HEARING, RULING ON AND GRANTING THE APPELLEE'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF PROSPECTIVE JUROR KENEVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE DEFENDANT.

Rule 3.180 (a) (4) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that the defendant be present in all prosecutions for crimes "at the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impanelling, and swearing of the jury". Subparagraph (b) of Rule 3.180 states that if the defendant shall "voluntarily absent himself from the presence of the Court without leave of court...the trial of the cause or the return of the verdict of the jury in the case shall not thereby be postponed or delayed, but the trial, the submission of said case to the jury for verdict, and the return of the verdict thereon shall proceed in all respects as though the defendant were present in court at all times".

During the selection and examination of the prospective jurors at the trial of the case sub judice, it became apparent, although the Record on Appeal does not specifically state so, that the trial court became concerned as a result of the non-responsive answers which were given by prospective juror Keneven during the examination of said prospective juror. (R 1031) As a result of the non-responsive answers given by this prospective juror, the trial judge made inquiry as to whether or not any member of this prospective juror's family came with her to court and she responded that her father had been there with her and that he was present. The trial court then declared a recess and asked the lawyers to meet in his chambers. Thereafter, while in chambers and during the recess, in

the presence of counsel for the appellant, the trial judge and counsel for the appellee, and in the absence of the appellant, the trial court undertook to question the father of said prospective juror. (R 1037 - 1043) Thereafter, the trial judge had the said prospective juror's father sworn in and inquired as to whether all of the questions which he had previously given in response to the trial court's questions were true and correct. (R 1043) Counsel for the appellee inquired as to all of the persons present if they could agree that said prospective juror Keneven be challenged for cause by way of a joint challenge. Counsel for the appellant indicated that he did not oppose the appellee's Motion for Challenge for Cause. (R 1044 - 1045) The trial judge then realized that the appellant was not present during the examination of the father of said prospective juror and indicated that he would have excused the said prospective juror for cause on his own Motion if neither party had made such a challenge. Based upon that fact, the trial judge indicated that he did not think that it was necessary for the appellant to be present. (R 1045) The trial judge granted the State's Motion challenging prospective juror Keneven for cause and the said prospective juror was excused from serving on the jury. (R 1045 - 1046) There was no indication in the Record why the appellant was not present during the examination of the father of the prospective juror and at the time of the granting of the appellee's Motion to challenge said prospective juror for cause.

In Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), this Court held that the defendant had a constitutional right to be present at stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence and reversed the conviction of the defendant for First Degree Murder, vacated the sentence of death and remanded the cause for a new trial. In Francis (supra), this Court recognized that jury selection was one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated. In Francis (supra), this Court held that the defendant's

absence during the exercise of a peremptory challenge was a crucial state of the proceeding and also determined that the defendant's absence was not voluntary. The defendant, Francis, had been excused by the court momentarily to go to the restroom. After he had returned to the courtroom, his counsel, the prosecutor, the judge and the court reporter retired to the jury room to exercise Francis' and the State's peremptory challenges. Francis' counsel had told him he could not go with them into the jury room. His counsel had not obtained his express consent to challenge peremptorily the jury in his absence. The Record did not affirmatively demonstrate that Francis knowingly waived his right to be present or that he acquiesced in his counsel's actions after counsel and judge returned to the courtroom upon selecting a jury. The court held that his silence, when his counsel and the others retired to the jury room or when they returned after the selection process, did not constitute a waiver of his rights. This court held that the State had failed to show that Francis made a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to be present, citing Schneckloth v. Bustamont, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed. 2d 854 (1973) and Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938). This court then considered that having found error in proceeding with the jury selection process in his absence, whether the error was harmless. This court stated:

"We are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that this error in the particular factual context of this case is harmless."
Francis (supra) at Pg. 1178.

"The exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of a trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defendant...It is an arbitrary and capricious right which must be exercised freely to accomplish its purpose. It permits rejection for

real or imagined partiality and is often exercised on the basis of sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices based only on the bare looks and gestures of another or upon a juror's habits and associations. It is sometimes exercised on grounds normally thought irrelevant to legal proceedings or official action, such as the race, religion, nationality, occupation or affiliations of people summoned for jury duty".

Citing Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824; 13 L.Ed. 2d 759 (1965), this court held that "we are unable to assess the extent of prejudice, if any, Francis sustained by not being present to consult with his counsel during the time his peremptory challenges were exercised. Accordingly, we conclude that his involuntary absence without waiver by consent or subsequent ratification was reversible error and Francis is entitled to a new trial".

In the case sub judice, it is clear from the Record that the appellant was not present during the questioning of the prospective juror's father. The appellant would submit that the questioning of prospective juror Kenevin's father was the functional equivalent of the questioning of said prospective juror herself. The trial court itself apparently understood this when it felt compelled to place the said prospective juror's father under oath and inquire as to whether or not all of the questions which he had answered during prior examination were true and correct. The appellant would submit that this court should view the questioning of said prospective juror's father as though it were the equivalent of the examination of the said prospective juror herself. In addition, the Record clearly states that the appellant did not waive his right to be present during the selection of the jury and did not ratify his trial counsel's action after the attorneys and the trial judge returned to the courtroom. His silence on this issue does not

constitute a waiver of the appellant's right to be present during the selection of the jury. Because the extent of the resulting prejudice cannot be assessed, the error was reversible and the appellant is entitled to a new trial.

In Walker v. State, 438 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), it was held that the exercise of peremptory challenges of prospective jurors by criminal defendants was not necessarily a mere mechanical function and the trial court erred in not permitting the defendant's presence during the exercise of the peremptory challenges, notwithstanding that prior voir dire questioning of the prospective jurors was conducted in open court in the defendant's presence. In this case, the trial judge, assistant state attorney, and counsel retired to another room, out of the jury's presence, for the exercise of peremptory challenges. The defendant's counsel conveyed the defendant's request that the defendant be present at that time. The judge, however, after ascertaining from defendant's counsel that the defendant had been consulted concerning the subject of peremptory challenges, denied the request. The State argued that the defendant was not entitled to be present at the "mechanical function" of exercising challenges and that this function is not a "critical stage of the proceedings". In that case, the State also argued that Francis (supra) was distinguishable because in Francis (supra) the defendant was not present during the jury selection procedures conducted in the presence of the jury. The appellate court, however, specifically stated that the exercise of challenges by defendant is not necessarily a mere "mechanical function". The appellate court went on to say that "It may involve the formulation of on-the-spot strategy decisions which may be influenced by the actions of the state at the time...on the other hand,

the exercise of peremptory challenges is 'essential to the fairness of a trial by jury', and we cannot approve the erroneous exclusion of defendant unless we are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless". The court therefore ruled that the involuntary absence of the defendant without waiver by consent or subsequent ratification was reversible error and that the defendant was entitled to a new trial.

The appellant would submit that if the exercise of peremptory challenges is not a "mere mechanical function" then the making of a challenge for cause and the ruling thereon is also not a "mere mechanical function", thereby necessitating the presence of the defendant. The appellant may have disagreed with his counsel and objected to the State's challenge to prospective juror Kenevin for cause. The appellant would submit that this court is incapable of assessing the extent of the prejudice, had that scenerio occurred. Furthermore, as distinguishable from Walker (supra), the appellant in the case sub judice was not even present during the questioning and examination of the father of said prospective juror. The appellant would further submit that it is impossible for this court to assess what may have occurred and the resulting prejudice had the appellant requested his trial counsel to ask further questions in examining the father of the prospective juror and in making a request that the trial court continue the questioning of the prospective juror herself. There is no way that this court can determine what may have been revealed had there been further and subsequent examination of the prospective juror. It may have become apparent that she was not, in fact, an appropriate subject for a challenge for cause.

Although this court left open the question in Francis (supra) as to whether the defendant's voluntary absence during a critical stage of a trial for a capital offence constitutes error, that is not the issue before this tribunal. The appellant's absence was clearly not voluntary because he was not invited into

chambers along with counsel by the trial judge.

It is too well established and settled that the challenging of jurors is one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where defendant's presence is required. Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla.1983). In Salcedo v. State, 11 FLW 2390 (1986) the appellate court reversed the defendant's conviction based upon the trial court's denial of his Motion for a New Trial wherein he averred that he was not present at the beginning of the trial during the challenging of the jury in violation of Rule 3.180 (a) (4) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. And, in Godwin v. State, 12 FLW 314 (1/30/87) the appellate court held that the actions of the trial court in requiring the defense attorney to select a jury in the absence of the defendant constituted reversible error. Although with that case the issue arose as to whether or not the defendant's absence during jury selection was voluntary or not, the appellate court found the selection of the jury in his absence to be error. The case sub judice is exactly the same in that the trial court not only heard, ruled on and granted a challenge for cause of a prospective juror in the defendant's absence but also allowed the examination of said prospective juror's father in the absence of the defendant.

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