IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

HAROLD LEE HARVEY, JR.,)
Appellant,)
v.) CASE NO. 69,101
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.	SID J. WHITE
	MAY 1 1 1987

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050

CLERK, BURREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

LEE ROSENTHAL
Assistant Attorney General
111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I. The trial court did not err in questioning prospective juror Keneven's father without Appellant being present, because this was not a stage of the trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted. The record reveals that Miss Keneven was found not to be competent as a juror and the trial judge reached that conclusion before speaking with her father. Moreover, Appellant suffered no resulting prejudice from the dismissal of Miss Keneven as she had previously stated her belief that Appellant was guilty of the crime charged.

POINT II. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to disclose the identity of the confidential informant, because Appellant did not allege, nor did the record later reveal, that there were sufficient reasons to justify an exception to the general rule of non-disclosure.

POINT III. The trial court properly granted the State's motion and challenge for cause of prospective jurors Roach, Rogers, and Meadors. In the cases of both Mrs. Roach and Mr. Rogers, the record reveals that there was a reasonable doubt as to whether either could impartially recommend the appropriate punishment. The record further reveals the fact that a reasonable doubt existed as to the ability of Mr. Meadors to lay aside any possible prejudice towards prospective State witnesses.

POINT IV. The trial court correctly precluded Appellant from propounding hypothetical questions to the venire concerning their views as to the applicability of the death penalty in differing fact situations. It is settled law that hypothetical questions are not com-

petent when their evident purpose is to have the jurors indicate in advance what their decision will be under a certain state of the evidence. In addition, the proffered questions improperly concerned the venire's views were as what laws should exist. This form of inquiry has also held to be improper.

POINT V. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion in limine, because the statutes in force at the time of trial clearly provided for the possibility of parole. Appellant's argument that parole would be eliminated was pure speculation and reversible error cannot be predicated on conjecture.

POINT VI. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to strike and his non-specific request for a curative instruction. Prosecutorial comments made to the jury were proper and not misleading as the prosecutor did nothing but appropriately inform the jury of its "advisory" role in Florida capital sentencing. Comments which accurately explain the respective functions of the judge and jury are permissible under <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, <u>infra</u>.

POINT VII. The trial court properly allowed in evidence regarding Appellant's escape and subsequent criminal activity and the trial court properly instructed the jury on evidence regarding flight. Case law specifically holds that flight to avoid prosecution may be shown as evidence inferring guilt. Since this evidence was properly admitted, the pertinent jury instruction was also proper.

POINT VIII. The trial court found facts which fully supported the imposition of the death penalty. The facts in the record amply support the trial court's conclusion that the murders as committed were

heinous, atrocious, and cruel. The fact that both victims were aware of their impending deaths and in desperation tried to run away, supports the trial court's conclusion. Also, there was sufficient evidence that the murders were committed by Appellant to avoid a lawful arrest. Appellant himself admitted the fact that he murdered the Boyds because they had seen him. The trial court also had ample support for the conclusion that the murders were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Again, Appellant admitted his purpose in murdering the Boyds was to eliminate them as witnesses. Therefore heightened premeditation was present.

POINT IX. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress. The record reveals that Appellant signed no less than five forms waiving his rights under Miranda. Appellant himself admitted that he signed a rights card that informed him that no threats or promises could be made to induce a statement, and he further stated that he never told Detective Flynn that he would not confess unless his wife was brought to him. Thus, the record supports the trial court's finding that no promise was made which induced Appellant's confession.

POINT X. The trial court correctly denied Appellant's requested jury instructions. The prosecutor in no way intimated that the law prevented the jury from opting for mercy. Moreover, the standard jury instruction read by the trial judge stated that the jury could consider any aspect of Appellant's record or character, and any other circumstances of the offense. Thus, the jury was not misled regarding the permissibility of considering any and all mitigating evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN QUESTIONING PROSPECTIVE JUROR KENEVEN'S FATHER WITHOUT APPELLANT'S BEING PRESENT (restated).

Appellant argues that his absence from proceedings held in chambers, at which prospective juror Keneven's father was questioned, requires the granting of a new trial. He argues that, "because the extent of the resulting prejudice cannot be assessed, the error was reversible..."

(AB 5). To support his argument, Appellant chiefly relies on Francis v.

State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), wherein the Florida Supreme Court held that the defendant's involuntary absence from the exercising of peremptory challenges could not be considered harmless error. The Court reasoned that the exercise of peremptory challenges is one of the most important rights afforded a defendant:

It is an arbitrary and capricious right which must be exercised freely to accomplish its purpose. It permits rejection for real or imagined partiality and is often exercised on the basis of sudden impressions and unaccountable prejudices based only on the bare looks and gestures of another or upon a juror's habits and associations. It is sometimes exercised on grounds normally thought irrelevant to legal proceedings or official action, such as the race, religion, nationality, occupation or affiliations of people summoned for jury duty. Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct 824, 13 L.Ed. 2d 759 (1965).

413 So.2d at 1179.

Appellee submits that Appellant's reliance upon <u>Francis</u> is misplaced because his absence in the instant case was not during a crucial stage of the trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted. The rec-

ord at bar clearly shows that Miss Keneven was not competent to be a juror, and that the trial court reached that conclusion, even <u>before</u> speaking with her father:

THE COURT: ... had neither lawyer moved I would have excused her on the Court's own motion, so I think the record is clear that she is disqualified as a juror, whether we talked to her father or not. (R 1045).

Thus, Appellee submits that Miss Keneven was excused by the trial court, pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P., Rule 3.300(c), which states:

(c) Prospective Jurors Excused. If, after the examination of any prospective juror, the court is of the opinion that such juror is not qualified to serve as a trial juror, the court shall excuse such juror from the trial of the cause. If, however, the court does not excuse such juror, either party may then challenge such juror, as provided by law or by these rules.

A quick perusal of Miss Keneven's non-responsive answers provides ample support for the trial judge's conclusion that she was not qualified to serve as a juror:

THE COURT: I'll explain just a couple of the laws that I will explain fully to the jury that must be followed and applied in reaching the jury's verdict; can you follow all of the laws that I'll explain to the jury that the jury must follow and apply in reaching their verdict, in reaching a verdict in this case? Any hesitancy in saying that you can do that?

MISS KENEVEN: I wanted to say my father is vice president of the Chase Manhattan Bank retired.

THE COURT: Would that have any affect on your ability to be fair and impartial in this case?

MISS KENEVEN: Well, what I wanted to say in this case is that, Your Honor, I don't work. I don't work outside.

THE COURT: All right.

MISS KENEVEN: Outside work. I stay at home, at home. And then I watch, then I play my piano and then I play the organ and then I do horseback riding.

THE COURT: Is there any family member that came here with you this week?

MISS KENEVEN: My father came with me.

THE COURT: Is he here now?

MISS KENEVEN: Yes.

THE BAILIFF: He was here earlier this morning. I don't know whether he was outside or not. I think he's outside the room.

THE COURT: Let me see the lawyers and this lady's father also in chambers for a moment. Not right now. After the next recess.

THE BAILIFF: I'll just check if he's outside. Okay.

MISS KENEVEN: But, Your Honor, what I meant to say is I don't work. I don't work and I have a lot of telephone stock.

THE COURT: Would any of that affect your ability to be fair and impartial here?

MISS KENEVEN: In this case? I would say no, it wouldn't affect my ability.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MISS KENEVEN: <u>I believe that the defendant</u> is guilty, but right then and there --

THE COURT: Let me let the lawyers talk with you a little bit further as we go along here.

Is there anything about this type of a case that any of the three of you all might find it to be difficult to be fair and impartial because of the type of case?

MISS KENEVEN: <u>In this type of case</u>, Your Honor, I watch Divorce Court. (R 1030-1032)(emphasis added).

It is obvious from the above colloquy that the lawyers did not even get to the stage of challenging Miss Keneven for cause, when the trial judge realized something was amiss with this prospective juror. Thus, the only logical conclusion to be made from this record is that the examination of Miss Keneven's father was not a crucial stage of the proceedings, hence the absence of Appellant at that time was not error. Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372, 1375-1376 (Fla. 1983); see also, Muehleman v. State, 12 FLW 39, 41 (Fla.Sup.Ct January 8, 1987).

Moreover, Appellee contends that even if Appellant's absence were considered error, the record clearly shows that he suffered no resulting prejudice. See, Garcia v. State, 472 So.2d 360, 364 (Fla. 1986). Miss Keneven's stated belief that Appellant was guilty (R 1031-1032) was made in Appellant's presence and the record shows no subsequent attempt made to rehabilitate her. Thus Appellant, had he desired Miss Keneven to be a juror, could have communicated this thought to defense counsel who, instead of acquiescing to the State's challenge for cause (R 1045), could then have sought to rehabilitate Miss Keneven.

Appellant does not even claim that he differed with his trial counsel's assessment of Miss Keneven and Appellee submits that an objection should have been made to properly preserve this particular issue for appeal. Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973, 975 (Fla. 1981). Moreover,

the record at bar reveals Appellant had actual notice of the nature and purpose of the in-chambers examination of Miss Keneven's father. Therefore, the inference to be drawn from this record is that Appellant's absence was voluntary. State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137, 140 (Fla. 1971).

Altogether, this Court, in Lowman v. State, 80 Fla. 18, 85 So. 166, 170 (1920), (cited in Herzog v. State, supra), summed up the validity of a claim such as this:

To hold that this is a denial to the defendant of his organic rights "to be heard by himself or counsel, or both, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to meet the witnesses against him face to face," and not to "be deprived of life or liberty without due process of law" and to "the equal protection of the laws," or a denial of the defendant's statutory or common-law right to be personally present "during the trial" or at every stage of or step taken in his trial for a felony, is to put vain technicalities above the substantial requirements of justice and security to the defendant, and to impair the integrity and power of the courts in administering the law and in securing to the defendant all of his rights in the premises.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISCLOSE THE IDENTITY OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT.

Appellant contests the trial court's denial of his motion to disclose the identity of a confidential informant who provided the police with information regarding a witness whose identity was known to both parties (R 177, 180). As reason for seeking disclosure, defense counsel merely stated that:

Counsel are naturally interested so as to determine if the evidence obtained by the confidential informant for law enforcement was obtained in a lawful manner. (R 3230).

Appellee submits this reason is not sufficient to require disclosure of the identity of the confidential informant.

It is settled law that:

Unless a defendant can establish that it will be necessary for the prosecution to refer to the informer in the presentation of its case, or that he was an active participant in the offense with which the defendant is charged, or there is no independent evidence of the defendant's guilt, the state is not required to disclose the name of its confidential informant.

Spataro v. State, 179 So.2d 873 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1965).

State v. White, 418 So.2d 411, 412 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982). In the instant case, Appellant does not even allege that the prosecution referred to the informant, when presenting its case. At the pre-trial conference, it is difficult to categorize defense counsel's reason for requesting disclosure as even a "bare assertion" that disclosure was needed to insure a full and adequate defense. See, State v. Acosta, 439 So.2d 1024, 1026

(Fla. 3rd DCA 1983). Defense counsel merely stated he wanted an in-camera hearing to determine what information the confidential informant had (R 175-176). The prosecutor stated that he would not call the C.I. as a witness, that the C.I. was not present when the murders were committed, that the C.I. would not be mentioned at trial, and that the C.I.'s only purpose was to direct the police to an individual whose name was known to Appellant (R 177, 180).

The fact that the informant may have provided police with information which ultimately led to Appellant's arrest is not enough to overcome the privilege of non-disclosure. Acosta, supra. Moreover:

[M]ere speculation as to the usefulness of the informant's testimony to the defendant is insufficient to justify disclosure of his identity."

State v. Carnegie, 472 So.2d 1329, 1330 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). The fact is, Appellant's motion for disclosure did not allege reasons sufficient to justify an exception to the general rule of non-disclosure.

A motion for disclosure or the evidence must show that the informant's testimony is relevant and material to the establishment of a defense the defendant has or proposes to present. Doe v. State, 262 So.2d 11 (Fla.App.1972).

Hawkins v. State, 312 So.2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975); see also,
State v. Matney, 236 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970); Ruiz v. State, 436
So.2d 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983).

Since the instant record reveals no allegation regarding the materiality of the information sought to be disclosed, Appellee submits the trial judge's decision was correct. See, Jackson v. State, 307 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975); State v. Anderson, 329 So.2d 424 (Fla. 3rd

DCA 1976). Without an allegation regarding the materiality of the sought after information, Appellee submits an in-camera hearing was not necessary. See, State v. Jimenez, 428 So.2d 356, 357 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983).

Thus, the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE STATE'S MOTION AND CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS ROACH, ROGERS, AND MEADORS.

Appellant contends that three prospective jurors were improperly excluded, in violation of the standards articulated in <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 83 L.Ed.2d 841, 105 S.Ct 1415 (1985). (AB 16). Appellee disagrees with this conclusion, and would first reply that this Court has repeatedly held:

The competency of a challenged juror is to be determined by the trial court in its discretion, and the court's decision will not be disturbed unless manifest error is shown.

Christopher v. State, 407 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1981), cert.denied, 456 U.S. 910, 102 S.Ct 1761, 72 L.Ed.2d 169 (1982); Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959).

Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Fla. 1985); Hooper v. State, 476 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1985); see also, State v. Williams, 465 So.2d 1227, 1231 (Fla. 1985). The instant record clearly shows no manifest error occurred by the exclusion of any of the three prospective jurors.

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